, I

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS 

The Petitioner is LUIS FLORES, by and through his attorney, 

Darrel S. Ammons. 

II. DECISION BELOW 

Petitioner seeks review of the decision issued on February 3, 

2015, by the Court of Appeals, Division II, in Luis Flores, Appellant 

v. Bradley C. Hoggatt and Connie J. Hoggatt, Appellees, No. 

45589-7-11. A copy of this decision is attached as Appendix A. 

Ill. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Where a seller conveys real property to an innocent purchaser 

in violation of the state and local subdivision laws, does 

correction of the violation by the seller, without the consent of 

the purchaser, after the sale, but prior to trial, eliminate a 

purchaser's claim for rescission under RCW 58.17.21 0? 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

In 2004, the Respondents sold an illegally subdivided lot to the 

Petitioner in violation of RCW Chapter 58.17 and the Cowlitz 

County Code. The Respondents have not denied their illegal 

conduct. The Petitioner filed a counter claim to Respondents' 

injunction complaint, requesting relief under RCW 58.17.210, 

including rescission. Respondents answered Petitioner's 

Counterclaim as follows: 

Plaintiffs admit that they sold to the defendant real 
property that had not been subdivided pursuant to 
RCW Chapter 58.17 and Cowlitz County Code 18.34. 

Cowlitz County CP 75; P.1, Lines 18-21. 

As part of Respondents' injunction claim, Respondents 

requested the court to order the Petitioner to participate in the 

Respondents' application to correct the illegally subdivided 

property. However, the Petitioner declined. Therefore, the Trial 

Court ordered that the application could be submitted to the county 

without the Petitioner's participation. Summary Judgment was 

entered in favor of the Respondents relating to the request for the 

injunction. Cowlitz County CP 20; P2, Lines 1-13. 
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The Petitioner appealed. Division I of the Court of Appeals 

affirmed the Trial Court's decision. As part of the ruling, Division I 

stated as follows: 

When an owner of property subdivides it illegally and 
sells a parcel, both seller and purchaser have a 
statutory duty to conform the property to the 
subdivision laws. The aggrieved purchaser may elect 
either to rescind or to recover damages, but when the 
purchaser obstructs the seller's efforts to conform the 
property by insisting on conditions not required by 
law, a trial court does not err by entering an injunction 
in favor of the seller allowing the compliance process 
to proceed. 

Hoggatt v. Flores, 152 Wash App. 862, 218 P.3d 244 

(2009) 

The case was transferred to Clark County upon a motion for 

change of venue by the Petitioner. 1 

On September 27, 2013, Respondents filed a Motion for 

Summary Judgment requesting the Clark County Superior Court to 

dismiss the Petitioner's Counterclaim. Clark County CP 7. The 

Appellant's Counterclaim, filed on June 23, 2008, states as follows: 

As and for a counterclaim, defendant alleges that 
plaintiffs sold property to him in violation of the 

1 
Petitioner's counterclaim was filed in Cowlitz County in June of 2008. After that, nine trial 

dates were scheduled over the course of five years. The first trial date in 2009 was cancelled 
by the court due to the Appeal of the injunction. Thereafter, the Respondents requested and 
were granted a continuance of the January 18, 2011 trial date. Six trial dates were bumped by 
the Cowlitz County Superior Court due to court congestion. The November 2013 Clark County 
trial date was stricken as a result of Summary Judgment. 
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prov1s1ons of RCW Chapter 58.17 and other 
regulations of Cowlitz County. As a result, defendant 
reserves the right to seek all relief allowed by RCW 
58.17.210 to include rescission, damages in amounts 
to be proven at time of trial, and reasonable attorney's 
fees. 

WHEREFORE, defendant prays plaintiffs take nothing 
by their complaint; that he be awarded relief sought 
pursuant to RCW Chapter 58.17; and that the Court 
grant such other and further relief as may be allowed 
by law. 

Cowlitz County CP 6; P.2, Lines 1-9. 

On November 15, 2013, the Clark County Superior Court 

granted the Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment as 

follows: 

Based on the above findings, IT IS ORDERED: 

1. Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment is 
granted. 

2. Defendant has no right to rescind his purchase 
of property from Plaintiffs based on RCW 
58.17.210 

Clark County CP 24. 

On February 3, 2015, Division II of the Court of Appeals 

affirmed the Trial Court's dismissal of the Respondents' claim for 

Rescission. As part of the Court of Appeal's Decision, referring to 

RCW 58.17.210, the Court stated as follows: 
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We hold that because the Hoggatts brought the 
property into compliance before Flores unequivocally 
sought rescission, Flores is no longer entitled to 
rescission by the statute's plain terms. 

V. ARGUMENT 

1. The Petition Should be Granted because the Published 
Court of Appeals Decision Conflicts with Existing Supreme 
Court and Appellate Court Decisions . 

. 
RAP 13.4(b) provides as follows: 

(b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of 
Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the 
Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court 
of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the 
Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of 
Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the 
Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of 
law under the Constitution of the State of 
Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) 
If the petition involves an issue of substantial public 
interest that should be determined by the Supreme 
Court. 

RCW 58.17.21 0, allows an innocent purchaser the right to 

choose between rescission and damages as a remedy when the 

innocent purchaser is sold a lot in violation of subdivision laws. The 

Petitioner, in his counter claim, requested rescission and, in the 

alternative, damages. 

The Court of Appeals affirmed the summary judgment dismissal 

of Petitioner's claim for rescission, due to Petitioner's failure to 
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unequivocally elect rescission. However, an election of remedies 

does not require that the election be made until trial. 

The court in Stryken v. Panel/, 66 Wash.App. 566, 832 P.2d 890 

(1992) held as follows: 

While, as we have noted, it is clear that Stryken 
sought rescission of the contract and restitution, it is not 
so clear that he sought damages for breach of contract. 
Even assuming, however, that Stryken's prayer for relief 
can be interpreted as a request for damages for breach 
of contract, as an alternative to his request for rescission 
and restitution, his argument still fails. We reach that 
conclusion because Stryken did not withdraw either one 
of his theories for recovery. When remedies, although 
inconsistent, are pled in the alternative and prosecuted to 
final judgment, the court's choice becomes the pleading 
party's choice. McKown v. Driver, supra. Because 
Stryken elected to plead for an equitable remedy as well 
as a legal remedy, he is now bound by the trial court's 
election between the remedies prayed for in the 
complaint. 

One is bound by an election of remedies when all of 
the three essential conditions are present: (1) the 
existence of two or more remedies at the time of the 
election; (2) inconsistency between such remedies; and 
(3) a choice of one of them .... The prosecution to final 
judgment of any one of the remedies constitutes a bar to 
the others. 

In CHD, Inc. v. Boyles, 138 Wash.App. 131, 157 P.3d 415 

(2007) the Court of Appeals stated in part as follows: 

CHD also contends that the trial court erred by 
awarding attorney fees. It argues that Ms. Boyles 
made an irrevocable election of remedies when she 
opted to pursue a nonjudicial foreclosure, so she may 
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not claim attorney fees in the judicial action. CHD 
relies on McKown v. Driver, 54 Wash.2d 46, 337 P.2d 
1068 (1959), from which it quotes the following 
language: 

One is bound by an election of remedies when all of 
the three essential conditions are present: (1) the 
existence of two or more remedies at the time of the 
election; (2) inconsistency between such remedies; 
and (3) a choice of one of them. 

/d. at 55, 337 P.2d 1068. In the next sentence the 
court said, "The prosecution to final judgment of any 
one of the remedies constitutes a bar to the others." 
/d. 

The election of remedies rule has a narrow scope, 
its sole purpose being the prevention of double 
redress for a single wrong. Lange v. Town of 
Woodway, 79 Wash.2d 45, 49, 483 P.2d 116 (1971). 
The rule does not apply here. Ms. Boyles chose a 
nonjudicial foreclosure, but she was compelled to 
defend the nonjudicial foreclosure in a declaratory 
action because CHD did not comply with the statute 
to contest the sale. 

Finally, the court, in McKown v. Driver, 54 Wash.2d 46 (1959) 

states as follows: 

One is bound by an election of remedies when all 
of the three essential conditions are present: (1) the 
existence of two or more remedies at the time of the 
election; (2) inconsistency between such remedies; 
and (3) a choice of one of them. Willis T. Batcheller, 
Inc. v. Welden Construction Co., 1941, 9 Wash.2d