RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Mar 26, 2015, 8:35 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

Supreme Court No. 91340-4

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

#### WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

BRADLEY C. HOGGATT and CONNIE HOGGATT, husband and wife,

Respondents,

ν.

LUIS A. FLORES,

Petitioner<sup>1</sup>

#### RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

BRADLEY W. ANDERSEN, WSBA No. 20640
ROY D. PYATT, WSBA No. 40956
LANDERHOLM, P.S. 805 Broadway Street, Suite 1000
P.O. Box 1086
Vancouver, WA 98666-1086
(360) 696-3312
Of Attorneys for Respondents Hoggatt

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

Flores seeks review because he claims (1) an absolute right to rescission under RCW 58.17.210 and (2) the trial court could not force him to select his remedy at the summary judgment stage.

The law is clear on both points.

First, the statute permits a buyer of a non-conforming lot to either seek reimbursement for the cost to render the property legal or, "as an alternative to conforming his . . . . property", rescind the conveyance. However, the remedy is only available if the property is non-compliant. By the time Mr. Flores actually exercised his right of rescission, the property, under a valid court order, had been made to conform with the law. Flores therefore lacked standing to rescind the transaction.

Second, while the law allows a plaintiff to elect their remedies, they must do so before the court enters a final judgment. If they fail to elect a remedy, the court's judgment becomes the elected remedy. This is especially true with the remedy of rescission where the law requires the buyer to "promptly" demand rescission upon discovering the basis for canceling the transaction. Flores completely failed to meet this requirement.

The Court of Appeal's decision wholly follows rules of statutory construction and legal precedent regarding recissions and should not be further reviewed.

# A. The Plain Language of the Statute Unquestionably Supports the Court of Appeals' Decision Below.

The plain language of the statute unquestionably supports the Court of Appeals' decision below. Flores' Petition misses the mark. If the statute really states what Flores argues, then why does the Petition fail to address the statutes' plain language stating rescission is an available remedy "as an alternative to conforming . . . property" to the platting requirements? Rather than brief and deal directly with the key statutory language, Flores cites a multitude of appellate decisions merely stating the alternative remedies authorized by RCW 58.17.210. But none of these authorities interpret, permit or even deal with rescission where the underlying nonconformity was cured *before* rescission was demanded under the statute.

Flores sought an alternative remedy, which was no longer available once the Property was brought into compliance, and not supported by the statute's plain language.

# B. Flores' Petition does not meet the Substantial Public Interest Consideration because the Hoggatts cured the Platting Violation on April 8, 2009.

Flores' Petition does not meet the substantial public interest consideration because the Hoggatts cured the Property's platting violation in 2009. The Rules of Appellate Procedure state in pertinent part:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: . . .

(3) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court

RAP 13.4(b)(1).

The Legislature succinctly stated the public purpose for which the platting statutes were drafted:

The legislature finds that the process by which land is divided is a matter of state concern and should be administered in a uniform manner by cities, towns, and counties throughout the state. The purpose of this chapter is to regulate the subdivision of land and to promote the public health, safety and general welfare in accordance with standards established by the state to prevent the overcrowding of land; to lessen congestion in the streets and highways; to promote effective use of land; to promote safe and convenient travel by the public on streets and highways; to provide for adequate light and air; to facilitate adequate provision for water, sewerage, parks and recreation areas, sites for schools and schoolgrounds and other public requirements; to provide for proper ingress and egress; to provide for the expeditious approval review and of proposed subdivisions which conform to zoning standards and local plans and policies; to adequately provide for the housing and commercial needs of the citizens of the state; and to require uniform monumenting of land subdivisions and conveyancing by accurate legal description.

RCW 58.17.010 (emphasis added).

The Legislature's stated interest was to subdivide land in a manner promoting the public health, safety and welfare.

The public's interest in the lawful subdivision of the Property was fully satisfied when the Property's short plat was approved by Cowlitz County on April 8, 2009.

Remember that Division I upheld the trial court's ruling that Hoggatts not only had a right to cure the defect, but a legal duty. Also remember that Flores did not seek to have this court review that decision.

Flores also failed to take steps to stop the injunction that allowed the Property to be brought into compliance.

Any involvement by the Supreme Court at this juncture would do nothing to serve the legislative purposes and corresponding public benefits intended to be provided by past compliance with platting requirements.<sup>22</sup>

There is no substantial public interest in allowing a buyer such as Flores the ability to rescind a purchase long after the underlying statutory grounds to support rescission have been cured. The exact opposite is true. Flores' attempt to exploit an innocent mistake to either (1) try to renegotiate the conveyance or (2) take a wait and see approach on what remedy he would accept would actually undermine the stated purpose of the statute. One can imagine the uncertainty of title and chaos that would result if the courts endorsed Flores' mischief. This approach would render the statute's language "as an alternative to conforming" meaningless besides causing confusion.

Flores' Petition demonstrates no substantial public interest in Supreme Court review of this action. His hypothetical questions also

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> In light of the express legislative/public purpose of the platting statutes, it is hard to take Flores' argument regarding substantial public interest seriously when it was Flores who refused to assist the Hoggatts in their efforts to resolve the Property's platting violation. Flores obstructed the Hoggatts' efforts to fix their mistake every step of the way, insisting—as the Court of Appeals kindly described in *Hoggatt I*—on "conditions not required by law".

invite the Supreme Court to issue an advisory opinion, an action the court has consistently refused to take.<sup>23</sup>

### C. The Court of Appeals' Decision is Not in Conflict with a Decision of the Supreme Court.

The Court of Appeals' decision below is not in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court. The rule in Washington has long required that one who seeks rescission must seek to rescind "promptly after discovery" of the circumstances that would allow the transaction to be rescinded.<sup>24</sup>

Flores has failed to provide a single Supreme Court or even a Court of Appeal's decision interpreting the rescission rights contained in RCW 58.17.210 to apply after property has been brought into compliance with the subdivision rules.

Flores argues he was justified in dodging the trial judge's question regarding the remedy he was seeking when the trial judge was ready to rule on summary judgment because he had a right to wait until trial to decide. He therefore claims the trial court erred when he was forced to elect his remedies at the summary judgment phase.

But Flores did not challenge that portion of the trial court's ruling in *Hoggatt I* and therefore cannot raise that in this second appeal<sup>25</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> See, e.g., Walker v. Munro, 124 Wn.2d 402, 411-12, 879 P.2d 920 (1994).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Weitzman v. Bergstrom, 75 Wn.2d at 697.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> State v. Worl, 129 Wn.2d 416, 425, 918 P2d 905 (1996) (quoting Folsom v. County of Spokane, 111 Wn.2d 256, 263-64, 759 P2d 1196 (1988)).

But putting that aside, the effect of the trial court's granting of summary judgment and to issue an injunction during the first round was to avoid a trial. The purpose of a summary judgment is to avoid a useless trial<sup>26</sup>. So if Flores wanted to assert a claim for rescission, he needed to do so before the court granted a final judgment.

Because the trial judge was ready to rule at the 2008 summary judgment proceeding, that proceeding was trial for purposes of Flores electing whether to rescind. The material facts were never disputed in this action. The issues have always been legal ones. Had Flores wanted to elect rescission, he should have done so during the 2008 summary judgment proceeding prior to the short plat being approved on April 8, 2009 as a product of the summary judgment ruling. His failure to timely elect his remedy, or to demand rescission, meant he waived his right to later seek such relief, especially since the statutory grounds for rescission ceased to exist after April 8, 2009.

### 1. The Sole Supreme Court Decision cited by Flores actually Supports the Court of Appeals' Decision.

The sole Supreme Court decision cited by Flores actually supports the Court of Appeals' decision below. Petitioner's Petition side steps Flores' failure to elect rescission prior to the platting violation being cured and cites instead general cases regarding election of remedies at trial. He also misstates the election of remedies law, and its purpose.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> See *Nielson v. Spanaway Gen. Med. Clinic, Inc.*, 135 Wn.2d 255, 262, 956 P.2d 312 (1998).

The "sole purpose" of the election of remedies doctrine is to "prevent double redress for a wrong.<sup>27</sup>" The present action does not involve double redress for a harm; the key legal issue was whether Flores could choose rescission under RCW 58.17.210 three years after the Hoggatts cured the Property's platting violation. The election of remedies doctrine is inapplicable to the present action.

Flores has provided *McKown v. Driver*, 54 Wn.2d 46, 337 P.2d 1068 (1959) as the single Supreme Court decision to support his claim the Court of Appeals' decision below contradicts Supreme Court precedent. But there, the buyers failed to choose a specific remedy that they later regretted. The Supreme Court specifically stated that "the court's choice [of remedy options] became the McKown's choice" of remedy.<sup>28</sup>

This is precisely what happened here. When it became clear Flores would not assist the Hoggatts in signing the short plat application, the Hoggatts moved for summary judgment, essentially asking the trial court to either require Flores' cooperation in making the Property legal or to order Cowlitz County to accept the short plat application without Flores' signature.

The trial judge had to make a final decision. Had Flores announced his intent to rescind the transaction before the trial judge rendered a decision, the court could have ordered title to the property be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Birchler v. Castello Land Co., 133 Wn.2d 106, 112, 942 P.2d 968 (1997); CHD, Inc. v. Boyles, 138 Wn. App. 131, 140, 157 P.3d 415 (2007) (noting that the election of remedies has a "narrow scope" regarding its protecting against double redress for a single wrong and therefore found the rule inapplicable to the facts).

<sup>28</sup> Id. at 55.

reverted back to the Hoggatts and a ruling on summary judgment would not have been necessary. Flores would have been entitled to rescission damages and the Hoggatts would have been free to apply to short plat the property without Flores' signature.

The trial judge simply needed to know if Flores was electing rescission or not. But instead of giving a clear answer, Flores dodged the question and therefore assumed the risk of the court's choice of remedy for him.

By failing to demand rescission—or even cooperate with the trial judge, Flores essentially placed the trial judge in the position of choosing the appropriate remedy, and the trial court ordered Cowlitz County to accept the Hoggatts' short plat application without Flores' signature. "[T]he [Cowlitz County trial] court's choice became [Flores'] choice." The *McKown* decision actually supports what the trial court and Court of Appeals did in this action.

#### 2. Flores failed to Seek a Supersedeas Bond.

Following the trial court's summary judgment ruling, Flores failed to seek a supersedeas bond under RAP 8.1 to prevent the Hoggatts from curing the Property's plat violation until the matter could be heard on appeal. The Hoggatts cured the platting violation under the trial court's injunction. This was completed even before the Court of Appeals issued its first decision in *Hoggatt I*.

Had Flores obtained a supersedeas bond, he may have been able to preserve his right to rescind his purchase under RCW 58.17.210. Further, if Flores had really wanted to rescind the transaction, he should have petitioned for review of *Hoggatt I* on the basis that only he, not the Hoggatts, had authority or responsibility to cure the platting defect under RCW 58.17.210. He should have also challenged the trial court's insistence that Flores elect his remedy.

Because Flores failed to petition for review, or raise the election of remedies issue, the *Hoggatt I* decision became the law of the case.<sup>29</sup> And by curing the platting problem, the Hoggatts legally removed the basis for rescinding the conveyance **before** Flores clearly sought recission.

Flores' Petition in this action should be viewed as a collateral attack upon Division I's decision that upheld the Hoggatts' right to cure the platting violation, and to that extent, should be rejected.

In summary, Flores' Petition is not about any existing conflict between the Court of Appeals and other Washington cases. Flores is asking for help in the Supreme Court because he: (i) Failed to choose his remedy during summary judgment when the trial court had to decide regarding the rescission remedy; (ii) failed to obtain a supersedeas bond prohibiting the Hoggatts from fixing the plat violation; (iii) failed to petition for review of *Hoggatt I*; and (iv) failed to demand rescission until three years after the Property's short plat was approved.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> State, 129 Wn2d at 425.

### D. The Court of Appeals' Decision is Not in Conflict with another Decision of the Court Appeals.

The Court of Appeals' decision below is also not in conflict with any other decision of the Court of Appeals. As noted above, the decision wholly follows Division I's decision in *Hoggatt I*.

Flores fails to cite a single case where the Court of Appeals allowed a purchaser to rescind a transaction after the platting violation giving rise to the right to rescind was cured. Such a case simply does not exist in Washington jurisprudence, and for good reason. Flores' position does not comply with the plain language of the statute, and would create a rule of law so nonsensical, that the purpose of the platting statute for which the remedy was created would not be served. Instead of focusing on protecting the public health and welfare, which the platting statute does, Flores' requested interpretation of the statute would focus on getting back at the mistaken and innocent seller—even years after the underlying nonconformity is cured. That is not the stated purpose of the subdivision statutes.

Further, the two Court of Appeals decisions cited by Flores are also supportive of the decision below. As stated in *McKown*, when an action involves the issue of election of remedies, "the court's choice becomes the pleading party's choice" when the pleading party fails to "withdraw either one of his theories for recovery" when the trial court is ready to enter judgment—in this case summary judgment which would

affect Flores' right to rescind.<sup>30</sup> Flores failed to rescind the transaction when the trial judge was ready to rule on summary judgment furthermore, he failed to enjoin the order or otherwise prohibit the short plat from being approved.

CHD, Inc. v. Boyles, 138 Wn. App. 131, 157 P.3d 415 (2007) likewise follows the Court of Appeals' decision below. There, a secured party instituted a nonjudicial foreclosure proceeding. Prior to the trustee sale, the borrower brought a declaratory judgment action to contest the underlying debt. However, the borrower did not attempt to enjoin the trustee sale and the property was sold to a third party. The Boyles court held that the borrower waived its statute of limitations defense by not employing the statutory presale remedies contained within RCW 61.24.

The posture of the present action is very similar to that of *Boyles*. Flores had a statutory right to seek damages for the platting violation, or as an alternative to making the property conform to the platting statutes, he could seek rescission. He failed to affirmatively elect either remedy upon summary judgment. He waived his right to demand rescission when the platting violation was subsequently cured (with absolutely no help from Flores, he only being "instransigen[t]"<sup>31</sup>), removing the equitable remedy from Flores' options.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Stryken v. Panell, 66 Wn. App. 566, 571, 832 P.2d 890 (1992).
 <sup>31</sup> Hoggatt II, P. 9.

**V. CONCLUSION** 

Hoggatt agrees that Flores probably had a right under the statute to

seek rescission at the outset of this case. But he needed to promptly and

unequivocally exercise that right instead of trying to use those rights as a

hammer over the Hoggatt's head. He at least needed to stop playing

games when the trial court flat-out asked if he wanted to rescind the

transaction.

Division I and Division II were right in their construction of the

statute and rejected Mr. Flores' attempts to circumvent the purpose of the

law. Division II was correct to apply the longstanding rule of law that

requires a party that seeks rescission, to promptly and unequivocally

demand that relief.

There is no good reason for this court to further review these

proceedings.